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A  B I L L

To amend sections 2951.041, 2953.38, and 3772.99 

and to enact sections 2927.21 and 2953.521 of 

the Revised Code to prohibit a person engaged in 

publishing or disseminating criminal record 

information from soliciting or accepting a fee 

to remove, correct, modify, or refrain from 

publishing or otherwise disseminating the 

information; to provide criminal and civil 

remedies for a violation of that prohibition; to 

provide that a person found not guilty of an 

offense or named in a dismissed complaint, 

indictment, or information may apply to the 

court for an order to expunge the person's 

official records in the case if the charge or 

finding was the result of the applicant having 

been a victim of human trafficking; to generally 

permit a person convicted of certain 

prostitution-related offenses to apply for the 

expungement of any record of conviction of an 

offense if the person's participation was a 

result of having been a victim of human 
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trafficking; to authorize intervention in lieu 

of conviction for persons charged with 

committing an offense while a victim of 

compelling prostitution; and to specify that the 

criminal penalty related to casino operators and 

employees participating in casino gaming applies 

at their casino facility or an affiliated casino 

facility.

BE IT ENACTED BY THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE STATE OF OHIO:

Section 1. That sections 2951.041, 2953.38, and 3772.99 be 

amended and sections 2927.21 and 2953.521 of the Revised Code be 

enacted to read as follows:

Sec. 2927.21.   (A) As used in this section:  

(1) "Booking photograph" means a photograph of a subject 

individual that was taken in this state by an arresting law 

enforcement agency.

(2) "Criminal record   information" means a booking   

photograph or the name, address, charges filed, or description 

of a subject individual who is asserted or implied to have 

engaged in illegal conduct.

(3) "Law enforcement agency" has the same meaning as in 

section 109.573 of the Revised Code.

(4) "Subject individual" means an individual who was 

arrested and had the subject individual's photograph taken by a 

law enforcement agency during the processing of the arrest.

(B) No person engaged in publishing or otherwise 
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disseminating criminal record information through a print or 

electronic medium shall negligently solicit or accept from a 

subject individual the payment of a fee or other consideration 

to remove  , correct, modify, or refrain from publishing or   

otherwise disseminating criminal record information.

(C) A violation of division (B) of this section is misuse 

of criminal record information, a misdemeanor of the first 

degree.

(D) Each payment solicited or accepted in violation of 

this section constitutes a separate violation.

(E) In a civil action brought pursuant to section 2307.60 

of the Revised Code for a violation of this section, a subject 

individual who suffers a loss or harm as a result of the 

violation may be awarded an amount equal to ten thousand dollars 

or actual and punitive damages, whichever is greater, and in 

addition may be awarded reasonable attorney's fees, court costs, 

and any other remedies provided by law. Humiliation or 

embarrassment shall be adequate to show that the plaintiff has 

incurred damages. No physical manifestation of either 

humiliation or embarrassment is necessary for damages to be 

shown.

Sec. 2951.041. (A)(1) If an offender is charged with a 

criminal offense, including but not limited to a violation of 

section 2913.02, 2913.03, 2913.11, 2913.21, 2913.31, or 2919.21 

of the Revised Code, and the court has reason to believe that 

drug or alcohol usage by the offender was a factor leading to 

the criminal offense with which the offender is charged or that, 

at the time of committing that offense, the offender had a 

mental illness, was a person with an intellectual disability, or 

was a victim of a violation of section 2905.32 or 2907.21 of the 
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Revised Code and that the mental illness, status as a person 

with an intellectual disability, or fact that the offender was a 

victim of a violation of section 2905.32 or 2907.21 of the 

Revised Code was a factor leading to the offender's criminal 

behavior, the court may accept, prior to the entry of a guilty 

plea, the offender's request for intervention in lieu of 

conviction. The request shall include a statement from the 

offender as to whether the offender is alleging that drug or 

alcohol usage by the offender was a factor leading to the 

criminal offense with which the offender is charged or is 

alleging that, at the time of committing that offense, the 

offender had a mental illness, was a person with an intellectual 

disability, or was a victim of a violation of section 2905.32 or 

2907.21 of the Revised Code and that the mental illness, status 

as a person with an intellectual disability, or fact that the 

offender was a victim of a violation of section 2905.32 or 

2907.21 of the Revised Code was a factor leading to the criminal 

offense with which the offender is charged. The request also 

shall include a waiver of the defendant's right to a speedy 

trial, the preliminary hearing, the time period within which the 

grand jury may consider an indictment against the offender, and 

arraignment, unless the hearing, indictment, or arraignment has 

already occurred. The court may reject an offender's request 

without a hearing. If the court elects to consider an offender's 

request, the court shall conduct a hearing to determine whether 

the offender is eligible under this section for intervention in 

lieu of conviction and shall stay all criminal proceedings 

pending the outcome of the hearing. If the court schedules a 

hearing, the court shall order an assessment of the offender for 

the purpose of determining the offender's eligibility for 

intervention in lieu of conviction and recommending an 

appropriate intervention plan. 

77

78

79

80

81

82

83

84

85

86

87

88

89

90

91

92

93

94

95

96

97

98

99

100

101

102

103

104

105

106

107

108



Sub. H. B. No. 172 Page 5 
As Reported by the Senate Criminal Justice Committee

If the offender alleges that drug or alcohol usage by the 

offender was a factor leading to the criminal offense with which 

the offender is charged, the court may order that the offender 

be assessed by a community addiction services provider or a 

properly credentialed professional for the purpose of 

determining the offender's eligibility for intervention in lieu 

of conviction and recommending an appropriate intervention plan. 

The community addiction services provider or the properly 

credentialed professional shall provide a written assessment of 

the offender to the court. 

(2) The victim notification provisions of division (C) of 

section 2930.06 of the Revised Code apply in relation to any 

hearing held under division (A)(1) of this section. 

(B) An offender is eligible for intervention in lieu of 

conviction if the court finds all of the following: 

(1) The offender previously has not been convicted of or 

pleaded guilty to a felony offense of violence or previously has 

been convicted of or pleaded guilty to any felony that is not an 

offense of violence and the prosecuting attorney recommends that 

the offender be found eligible for participation in intervention 

in lieu of treatment under this section, previously has not been 

through intervention in lieu of conviction under this section or 

any similar regimen, and is charged with a felony for which the 

court, upon conviction, would impose a community control 

sanction on the offender under division (B)(2) of section 

2929.13 of the Revised Code or with a misdemeanor. 

(2) The offense is not a felony of the first, second, or 

third degree, is not an offense of violence, is not a violation 

of division (A)(1) or (2) of section 2903.06 of the Revised 

Code, is not a violation of division (A)(1) of section 2903.08 
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of the Revised Code, is not a violation of division (A) of 

section 4511.19 of the Revised Code or a municipal ordinance 

that is substantially similar to that division, and is not an 

offense for which a sentencing court is required to impose a 

mandatory prison term, a mandatory term of local incarceration, 

or a mandatory term of imprisonment in a jail. 

(3) The offender is not charged with a violation of 

section 2925.02, 2925.04, or 2925.06 of the Revised Code, is not 

charged with a violation of section 2925.03 of the Revised Code 

that is a felony of the first, second, third, or fourth degree, 

and is not charged with a violation of section 2925.11 of the 

Revised Code that is a felony of the first, second, or third 

degree. 

(4) If an offender alleges that drug or alcohol usage by 

the offender was a factor leading to the criminal offense with 

which the offender is charged, the court has ordered that the 

offender be assessed by a community addiction services provider 

or a properly credentialed professional for the purpose of 

determining the offender's eligibility for intervention in lieu 

of conviction and recommending an appropriate intervention plan, 

the offender has been assessed by a community addiction services 

provider of that nature or a properly credentialed professional 

in accordance with the court's order, and the community 

addiction services provider or properly credentialed 

professional has filed the written assessment of the offender 

with the court. 

(5) If an offender alleges that, at the time of committing 

the criminal offense with which the offender is charged, the 

offender had a mental illness, was a person with an intellectual 

disability, or was a victim of a violation of section 2905.32 or 
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2907.21 of the Revised Code and that the mental illness, status 

as a person with an intellectual disability, or fact that the 

offender was a victim of a violation of section 2905.32 or 

2907.21 of the Revised Code was a factor leading to that 

offense, the offender has been assessed by a psychiatrist, 

psychologist, independent social worker, licensed professional 

clinical counselor, or independent marriage and family therapist 

for the purpose of determining the offender's eligibility for 

intervention in lieu of conviction and recommending an 

appropriate intervention plan. 

(6) The offender's drug usage, alcohol usage, mental 

illness, or intellectual disability, or the fact that the 

offender was a victim of a violation of section 2905.32 or 

2907.21 of the Revised Code, whichever is applicable, was a 

factor leading to the criminal offense with which the offender 

is charged, intervention in lieu of conviction would not demean 

the seriousness of the offense, and intervention would 

substantially reduce the likelihood of any future criminal 

activity. 

(7) The alleged victim of the offense was not sixty-five 

years of age or older, permanently and totally disabled, under 

thirteen years of age, or a peace officer engaged in the 

officer's official duties at the time of the alleged offense. 

(8) If the offender is charged with a violation of section 

2925.24 of the Revised Code, the alleged violation did not 

result in physical harm to any person, and the offender 

previously has not been treated for drug abuse. 

(9) The offender is willing to comply with all terms and 

conditions imposed by the court pursuant to division (D) of this 

section. 
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(10) The offender is not charged with an offense that 

would result in the offender being disqualified under Chapter 

4506. of the Revised Code from operating a commercial motor 

vehicle or would subject the offender to any other sanction 

under that chapter. 

(C) At the conclusion of a hearing held pursuant to 

division (A) of this section, the court shall enter its 

determination as to whether the offender is eligible for 

intervention in lieu of conviction and as to whether to grant 

the offender's request. If the court finds under division (B) of 

this section that the offender is eligible for intervention in 

lieu of conviction and grants the offender's request, the court 

shall accept the offender's plea of guilty and waiver of the 

defendant's right to a speedy trial, the preliminary hearing, 

the time period within which the grand jury may consider an 

indictment against the offender, and arraignment, unless the 

hearing, indictment, or arraignment has already occurred. In 

addition, the court then may stay all criminal proceedings and 

order the offender to comply with all terms and conditions 

imposed by the court pursuant to division (D) of this section. 

If the court finds that the offender is not eligible or does not 

grant the offender's request, the criminal proceedings against 

the offender shall proceed as if the offender's request for 

intervention in lieu of conviction had not been made. 

(D) If the court grants an offender's request for 

intervention in lieu of conviction, the court shall place the 

offender under the general control and supervision of the county 

probation department, the adult parole authority, or another 

appropriate local probation or court services agency, if one 

exists, as if the offender was subject to a community control 

sanction imposed under section 2929.15, 2929.18, or 2929.25 of 
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the Revised Code. The court shall establish an intervention plan 

for the offender. The terms and conditions of the intervention 

plan shall require the offender, for at least one year from the 

date on which the court grants the order of intervention in lieu 

of conviction, to abstain from the use of illegal drugs and 

alcohol, to participate in treatment and recovery support 

services, and to submit to regular random testing for drug and 

alcohol use and may include any other treatment terms and 

conditions, or terms and conditions similar to community control 

sanctions, which may include community service or restitution, 

that are ordered by the court. 

(E) If the court grants an offender's request for 

intervention in lieu of conviction and the court finds that the 

offender has successfully completed the intervention plan for 

the offender, including the requirement that the offender 

abstain from using illegal drugs and alcohol for a period of at 

least one year from the date on which the court granted the 

order of intervention in lieu of conviction, the requirement 

that the offender participate in treatment and recovery support 

services, and all other terms and conditions ordered by the 

court, the court shall dismiss the proceedings against the 

offender. Successful completion of the intervention plan and 

period of abstinence under this section shall be without 

adjudication of guilt and is not a criminal conviction for 

purposes of any disqualification or disability imposed by law 

and upon conviction of a crime, and the court may order the 

sealing of records related to the offense in question in the 

manner provided in sections 2953.31 to 2953.36 of the Revised 

Code. 

(F) If the court grants an offender's request for 

intervention in lieu of conviction and the offender fails to 
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comply with any term or condition imposed as part of the 

intervention plan for the offender, the supervising authority 

for the offender promptly shall advise the court of this 

failure, and the court shall hold a hearing to determine whether 

the offender failed to comply with any term or condition imposed 

as part of the plan. If the court determines that the offender 

has failed to comply with any of those terms and conditions, it 

shall enter a finding of guilty and shall impose an appropriate 

sanction under Chapter 2929. of the Revised Code. If the court 

sentences the offender to a prison term, the court, after 

consulting with the department of rehabilitation and correction 

regarding the availability of services, may order continued 

court-supervised activity and treatment of the offender during 

the prison term and, upon consideration of reports received from 

the department concerning the offender's progress in the program 

of activity and treatment, may consider judicial release under 

section 2929.20 of the Revised Code. 

(G) As used in this section: 

(1) "Community addiction services provider" has the same 

meaning as in section 5119.01 of the Revised Code. 

(2) "Community control sanction" has the same meaning as 

in section 2929.01 of the Revised Code. 

(3) "Intervention in lieu of conviction" means any court-

supervised activity that complies with this section. 

(4) "Intellectual disability" has the same meaning as in 

section 5123.01 of the Revised Code.

(5) "Peace officer" has the same meaning as in section 

2935.01 of the Revised Code. 

(6) "Mental illness" and "psychiatrist" have the same 
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meanings as in section 5122.01 of the Revised Code. 

(7) "Psychologist" has the same meaning as in section 

4732.01 of the Revised Code.

Sec. 2953.38. (A) As used in this section: 

(1) "Expunge" means to destroy, delete, or erase a record 

as appropriate for the record's physical or electronic form or 

characteristic so that the record is permanently irretrievable.

(2) "Prosecutor" has the same meaning as in section 

2953.31 of the Revised Code.

(3) "Record of conviction" means the any     record related to 

a conviction of or plea of guilty to an offense.

(4) "Victim of human trafficking" means a person who is or 

was a victim of a violation of section 2905.32 of the Revised 

Code, regardless of whether anyone has been convicted of a 

violation of that section or of any other section for 

victimizing the person.

(B) Any person who is or was convicted of a violation of 

section 2907.24, 2907.241, or 2907.25 of the Revised Code may 

apply to the sentencing court for the expungement of the record 

of conviction if o  f any offense, other than a record of   

conviction of a violation of section 2903.01, 2903.02, or 

2907.02 of the Revised Code,the person's participation in the 

offense which     was a result of the person having been a victim of 

human trafficking. The person may file the application at any 

time. The application may request an order to expunge the record 

of conviction for more than one offense, but if it does, the 

court shall consider the request for each offense separately as 

if a separate application had been made for each offense and all 

references in divisions (B) to (H) of this section to "the 
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o  ffense" or "that offense" mean each of those offenses that are   

the subject of the application. The application shall do all of 

the following:

(1) Identify the applicant, the offense for which the 

expungement is sought, the date of the conviction of that 

offense, and the court in which the conviction occurred;

(2) Describe the evidence and provide copies of any 

documentation showing that the person is entitled to relief 

under this section;

(3) Include a request for expungement of the record of 

conviction of that offense under this section.

(C) The court may deny an application made under division 

(B) of this section if it finds that the application fails to 

assert grounds on which relief may be granted.

(D) If the court does not deny an application under 

division (C) of this section, it shall set a date for a hearing 

and shall notify the prosecutor for the case from which the 

record of conviction resulted of the hearing on the application. 

The prosecutor may object to the granting of the application by 

filing an objection with the court prior to the date set for the 

hearing. The prosecutor shall specify in the objection the 

reasons for believing a denial of the application is justified. 

The court may direct its regular probation officer, a state 

probation officer, or the department of probation of the county 

in which the applicant resides to make inquiries and written 

reports as the court requires concerning the applicant.

(E) At the hearing held under division (D) of this 

section, the court shall do both of the following:

(1) If the prosecutor has filed an objection, consider the 

319

320

321

322

323

324

325

326

327

328

329

330

331

332

333

334

335

336

337

338

339

340

341

342

343

344

345

346

347



Sub. H. B. No. 172 Page 13 
As Reported by the Senate Criminal Justice Committee

reasons against granting the application specified by the 

prosecutor in the objection;

(2) Determine whether the applicant has demonstrated by a 

preponderance of the evidence that the applicant's participation 

in the offense that is the subject of the application was a 

result of the applicant having been a victim of human 

trafficking.

(F) If after a hearing the court finds that the applicant 

has demonstrated by a preponderance of the evidence that the 

applicant's participation in the offense that is the subject of 

the application was the result of the applicant having been a 

victim of human trafficking, the court shall grant the 

application and order that the record of conviction be expunged.

(G)(1) The court shall send notice of the order of 

expungement to each public office or agency that the court has 

reason to believe may have an official record pertaining to the 

case if the court, after complying with division (E) of this 

section, determines both of the following:

(a) That the applicant has been convicted of a violation 

of section 2907.24, 2907.241, or 2907.25 of the Revised Code;

(b) That the interests of the applicant in having the 

records pertaining to the applicant's conviction expunged are 

not outweighed by any legitimate needs of the government to 

maintain those records.

(2) The proceedings in the case that is the subject of an 

order issued under division (F) of this section shall be 

considered not to have occurred and the conviction of the person 

who is the subject of the proceedings shall be expunged. The 

record of the conviction shall not be used for any purpose, 

348

349

350

351

352

353

354

355

356

357

358

359

360

361

362

363

364

365

366

367

368

369

370

371

372

373

374

375

376



Sub. H. B. No. 172 Page 14 
As Reported by the Senate Criminal Justice Committee

including, but not limited to, a criminal records check under 

section 109.572 of the Revised Code. The applicant may, and the 

court shall, reply that no record exists with respect to the 

applicant upon any inquiry into the matter.

(H) Upon the filing of an application under this section, 

the applicant, unless indigent, shall pay a fee of fifty 

dollars. The court shall pay thirty dollars of the fee into the 

state treasury and shall pay twenty dollars of the fee into the 

county general revenue fund.

Sec. 2953.521.     (A) As used in this section, "expunge" has   

the same meaning as in section 2953.38 of the Revised Code.

(B) Any person who is found not guilty of an offense by a 

jury or a court or who is the defendant named in a dismissed 

complaint, indictment, or information may apply to the court for 

an order to expunge the person's official records in the case if 

the complaint, indictment, information, or finding of not guilty 

that is the subject of the application was the result of the 

applicant having been a victim of human trafficking. The 

application may be filed at any time after the finding of not 

guilty or the dismissal of the complaint, indictment, or 

information is entered upon the minutes of the court or the 

journal, whichever entry occurs first. The application may 

request an order to expunge official records for more than one 

offense, but if it does, the court shall consider the request 

for each offense separately as if a separate application had 

been made for each offense and all references in divisions (B) 

to (H) of this section to "the offense" or "that offense" mean 

each of those offenses that are the subject of the application.

(C) The court may deny an application made under division 

(B) of this section if it finds that the application fails to 
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a  ssert grounds on which relief may be granted.  

(D) If the court does not deny an application under 

division (C) of this section, the court shall set a date for a 

hearing and shall notify the prosecutor for the case of the 

hearing on the application. The prosecutor may object to the 

granting of the application by filing an objection with the 

court prior to the date set for the hearing. The prosecutor 

shall specify in the objection the reasons for believing a 

denial of the application is justified.

(E) At the hearing held under division (D) of this 

section, the court shall do all of the following:

(1) If the prosecutor has filed an objection, consider the 

reasons against granting the application specified by the 

prosecutor in the objection;

(2) Determine whether the applicant has demonstrated by a 

preponderance of the evidence that the complaint, indictment, 

information, or finding of not guilty that is the subject of the 

application was the result of the applicant having been a victim 

of human trafficking;

(3) If the application pertains to a dismissed complaint 

indictment, or information, determine whether the dismissal was 

with prejudice or without prejudice and, if the dismissal was 

without prejudice, whether the period of limitations applicable 

to the offense that was the subject of that complaint, 

indictment, or information has expired;

(4) Determine whether any criminal proceedings are pending 

against the applicant.

(F)(1) Subject to division (F)(2) of this section, if the 

court finds that the applicant has demonstrated by a 
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p  reponderance of the evidence that the complaint, indictment,   

information, or finding of not guilty that is the subject of the 

application was the result of the applicant having been a victim 

of human trafficking, the court shall grant the application and 

order that the official records be expunged.

(2) The court shall not grant the application and order 

that the official records be expunged unless the court 

determines that the interests of the applicant in having the 

official records pertaining to the complaint, indictment, or 

information or finding of not guilty that is the subject of the 

application expunged are not outweighed by any legitimate needs 

of the government to maintain those records.

(G) If an expungement is ordered under division (F) of 

this section, the court shall send notice of the order of 

expungement to each public office or agency that the court has 

reason to believe may have an official record pertaining to the 

case.

(H) The proceedings in the case that is the subject of an 

order issued under division (F) of this section shall be 

considered not to have occurred and the official records shall 

be expunged. The official records shall not be used for any 

purpose, including a criminal records check under section 

109.572 of the Revised Code. The applicant may, and the court 

shall, reply that no record exists with respect to the applicant 

upon any inquiry into the matter.

Sec. 3772.99. (A) The commission shall levy and collect 

penalties for noncriminal violations of this chapter. 

Noncriminal violations include using the term "casino" in any 

advertisement in regard to a facility operating video lottery 

terminals, as defined in section 3770.21 of the Revised Code, in 
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this state. Moneys collected from such penalty levies shall be 

credited to the general revenue fund. 

(B) If a licensed casino operator, management company, 

holding company, gaming-related vendor, or key employee violates 

this chapter or engages in a fraudulent act, the commission may 

suspend or revoke the license and may do either or both of the 

following: 

(1) Suspend, revoke, or restrict the casino gaming 

operations of a casino operator; 

(2) Require the removal of a management company, key 

employee, or discontinuance of services from a gaming-related 

vendor. 

(C) The commission shall impose civil penalties against a 

person who violates this chapter under the penalties adopted by 

commission rule and reviewed by the joint committee on gaming 

and wagering. 

(D) A person who purposely or knowingly does any of the 

following commits a misdemeanor of the first degree on the first 

offense and a felony of the fifth degree for a subsequent 

offense: 

(1) Makes a false statement on an application submitted 

under this chapter; 

(2) Permits a person less than twenty-one years of age to 

make a wager at a casino facility; 

(3) Aids, induces, or causes a person less than twenty-one 

years of age who is not an employee of the casino gaming 

operation to enter or attempt to enter a casino facility; 

(4) Enters or attempts to enter a casino facility while 
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under twenty-one years of age, unless the person enters a 

designated area as described in section 3772.24 of the Revised 

Code; 

(5) Is a casino operator or employee and participates in 

casino gaming at the casino facility at which the casino 

operator or employee has an interest or is employed or at an 

affiliated casino facility in this state other than as part of 

operation or employment. 

(E) A person who purposely or knowingly does any of the 

following commits a felony of the fifth degree on a first 

offense and a felony of the fourth degree for a subsequent 

offense. If the person is a licensee under this chapter, the 

commission shall revoke the person's license after the first 

offense. 

(1) Uses or possesses with the intent to use a device to 

assist in projecting the outcome of the casino game, keeping 

track of the cards played, analyzing the probability of the 

occurrence of an event relating to the casino game, or analyzing 

the strategy for playing or betting to be used in the casino 

game, except as permitted by the commission; 

(2) Cheats at a casino game; 

(3) Manufactures, sells, or distributes any cards, chips, 

dice, game, or device that is intended to be used to violate 

this chapter; 

(4) Alters or misrepresents the outcome of a casino game 

on which wagers have been made after the outcome is made sure 

but before the outcome is revealed to the players; 

(5) Places, increases, or decreases a wager on the outcome 

of a casino game after acquiring knowledge that is not available 
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to all players and concerns the outcome of the casino game that 

is the subject of the wager; 

(6) Aids a person in acquiring the knowledge described in 

division (E)(5) of this section for the purpose of placing, 

increasing, or decreasing a wager contingent on the outcome of a 

casino game; 

(7) Claims, collects, takes, or attempts to claim, 

collect, or take money or anything of value in or from a casino 

game with the intent to defraud or without having made a wager 

contingent on winning a casino game; 

(8) Claims, collects, or takes an amount of money or thing 

of value of greater value than the amount won in a casino game; 

(9) Uses or possesses counterfeit chips, tokens, or 

cashless wagering instruments in or for use in a casino game; 

(10) Possesses a key or device designed for opening, 

entering, or affecting the operation of a casino game, drop box, 

or an electronic or a mechanical device connected with the 

casino game or removing coins, tokens, chips, or other contents 

of a casino game. This division does not apply to a casino 

operator, management company, or gaming-related vendor or their 

agents and employees in the course of agency or employment. 

(11) Possesses materials used to manufacture a device 

intended to be used in a manner that violates this chapter; 

(12) Operates a casino gaming operation in which wagering 

is conducted or is to be conducted in a manner other than the 

manner required under this chapter or a skill-based amusement 

machine operation in a manner other than the manner required 

under Chapter 2915. of the Revised Code. 
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(F) The possession of more than one of the devices 

described in division (E)(9), (10), or (11) of this section 

creates a rebuttable presumption that the possessor intended to 

use the devices for cheating. 

(G) A person who purposely or knowingly does any of the 

following commits a felony of the third degree. If the person is 

a licensee under this chapter, the commission shall revoke the 

person's license after the first offense. A public servant or 

party official who is convicted under this division is forever 

disqualified from holding any public office, employment, or 

position of trust in this state. 

(1) Offers, promises, or gives anything of value or 

benefit to a person who is connected with the casino operator, 

management company, holding company, or gaming-related vendor, 

including their officers and employees, under an agreement to 

influence or with the intent to influence the actions of the 

person to whom the offer, promise, or gift was made in order to 

affect or attempt to affect the outcome of a casino game or an 

official action of a commission member, agent, or employee; 

(2) Solicits, accepts, or receives a promise of anything 

of value or benefit while the person is connected with a casino, 

including an officer or employee of a casino operator, 

management company, or gaming-related vendor, under an agreement 

to influence or with the intent to influence the actions of the 

person to affect or attempt to affect the outcome of a casino 

game or an official action of a commission member, agent, or 

employee; 

(H) A person who knowingly or intentionally does any of 

the following while participating in casino gaming or otherwise 

transacting with a casino facility as permitted by Chapter 3772. 
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of the Revised Code commits a felony of the fifth degree on a 

first offense and a felony of the fourth degree for a subsequent 

offense: 

(1) Causes or attempts to cause a casino facility to fail 

to file a report required under 31 U.S.C. 5313(a) or 5325 or any 

regulation prescribed thereunder or section 1315.53 of the 

Revised Code, or to fail to file a report or maintain a record 

required by an order issued under section 21 of the "Federal 

Deposit Insurance Act" or section 123 of Pub. L. No. 91-508; 

(2) Causes or attempts to cause a casino facility to file 

a report required under 31 U.S.C. 5313(a) or 5325 or any 

regulation prescribed thereunder or section 1315.53 of the 

Revised Code, to file a report or to maintain a record required 

by any order issued under 31 U.S.C. 5326, or to maintain a 

record required under any regulation prescribed under section 21 

of the "Federal Deposit Insurance Act" or section 123 of Pub. L. 

No. 91-508 that contains a material omission or misstatement of 

fact; 

(3) With one or more casino facilities, structures a 

transaction, is complicit in structuring a transaction, attempts 

to structure a transaction, or is complicit in an attempt to 

structure a transaction. 

(I) A person who is convicted of a felony described in 

this chapter may be barred for life from entering a casino 

facility by the commission. 

(J) As used in division (H) of this section: 

(1) To be "complicit" means to engage in any conduct of a 

type described in divisions (A)(1) to (4) of section 2923.03 of 

the Revised Code. 
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(2) "Structure a transaction" has the same meaning as in 

section 1315.51 of the Revised Code. 

(K) Premises used or occupied in violation of division (E)

(12) of this section constitute a nuisance subject to abatement 

under Chapter 3767. of the Revised Code.

Section 2. That existing sections 2951.041, 2953.38, and 

3772.99 of the Revised Code are hereby repealed.

Section 3. If any provisions of a section as amended or 

enacted by this act, or the application thereof to any person or 

circumstance is held invalid, the invalidity does not affect 

other provisions or applications of the section or related 

sections which can be given effect without the invalid provision 

or application, and to this end the provisions are severable.
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